## Case No. 18-119489-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

IN THE MATTER OF THE MARRIAGE OF:

# JAIME L. WHILDIN, PETITIONER-APPELLANT & THOMAS M. WHILDIN, RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT JAIME L. WHILDIN

Appeal from the District Court of Miami County, KS
Honorable Steven Montgomery
District Court Case No. 13DM280

Joseph W. Booth KS #17100 joe@boothfamilylaw.com 11900 W. 87th St. Pkwy. Suite 250 Lenexa, KS 66215 Phone: 913-469-5300

Fax: 913-469-5310

Oral Argument Requested

##

#### Nature of the Case

This case involves the enforcement of the parties' Marital Separation

Agreement (MSA) and its provisions relating to child support. While finding it
necessary to impute income, the court found the provision in the MSA where

Thomas Whildin's stipulation that his self-employment income was no less than
\$75,000 was void as a matter of public policy. Further, Thomas Whildin had
agreed to specific recordkeeping provisions to document his self-employment
income, and the court refused to enforce that agreed upon obligation. Finally, the
MSA allowed for fees, and Jaime Whildin was awarded none after notice to cure
was sent, and Thomas Whildin failed to cure.

#### Statement of the Issues

Issue One: The court erred when it refused to enforce the parties' agreement that Thomas would keep competent business records. The court initially characterized the promise as invalid; the court asserted that it was too hard or expensive for Thomas' "tiny" business, then urged him to do better record keeping.

Issue Two: The court erred when it failed to apply the stipulation of fact that Thomas' income be imputed at a minimum of \$75,000 a year. This stipulation had been made by the parties and approved by the Court in the Decree. The stipulation did not take from the Court its lawful ability to set a child support amount under the KCSG.

Issue Three: The Court erred when it applied the extended income formula without arguments in support, supporting facts or competent evidence. In short, the court failed to apply the proper analysis as required under Kansas law.

Issue Four: The court erred when it refused to grant Jaime fees as allowed by the parties' Marital Separation Agreement (MSA) when Thomas breached the agreement by not following the stipulation of fact as well as Thomas' failing to *keep competent business records*.

#### **Facts**

This is a post-divorce matter. Jaime Whildin (Jaime) and Thomas Whildin (Thomas) were married in 2003. At the time of the divorce, there were two minor children of the marriage. The Petition for Divorce was filed on October 10, 2013. (R.Vol.1, p. 11-12.) The parties entered into a Separation Agreement and Property Settlement agreement (MSA) that was filed with the Court on July 18, 2014. (R.Vol.2, p. 156.)

Germane to this appeal are the following provisions:

Agreements and Stipulations for Future Modification of Child Support: The Husband is self-employed and there has been significant dispute as to what is Husband's gross domestic income from employment for purposes of calculating child support. There was also significant dispute as to the method of computing child support given the options available under the child support guidelines for an equal or nearly equal parenting time setting. To resolve this matter the parties agreed to certain stipulations regarding any future child support modification action or proceeding, to wit:

. . .

B. <u>Stipulations as to Husband's Record Keeping</u>: In an effort to help reduce the conflict as to the determination of Husband's income from self-employment for future support modification purposes, the Husband has agreed and stipulated that he will maintain proper financial records, financial reports, and source documents what is common for a business which has implemented generally accepted accounting methods and practices. Furthermore, the Husband shall employ a certified public accountant ("CPA") to assist Husband with his bookkeeping and accounting practices for the business. The Husband shall at a minimum have said CPA prepare quarterly (Jan-Mar; April-June; July-Sep; and Oct-Dec) financial reports<sup>1</sup> as well as year-end financial reports. Husband shall provide to the CPA the various source documents<sup>2</sup> for review by the CPA in preparation of the financial reports reflecting the Husband's business related income, expenses, assets and/or liabilities, etc. The Husband shall

maintain said financial records, financial reports and supporting sources documents for a minimum of three (3) full calendar years, as well as the year-to-date. For example, if we were in calendar year 2019 when Husband sought modification, then Husband would need complete financial records, reports, and source documents for calendar years 2016, 2017, and 2018 plus the year-to-date information for 2019.

## (Footnotes:

<sup>1</sup>"Financial Reports" include but are not limited to: Income Statement (a.k.a. Profit and Loss Statement); Balance Sheet; Statement of Owner's Equity; Statement of Cash Flows; Ledgers; Accounts Receivable; Accounts Payable; etc.

<sup>2</sup> "Source Documents" means something more than just the bank statements or credit card statements for the business, but will also include the same. "Source documents" would also refer to the actual invoice or statement from a vendor for supplies, 1099 issues to contract laborers, receipts for gas, etc. Thus, as used herein "source documents" are meant to include but are not limited to: 1) receipts, statements, bills, invoices or any other documents to support any sums owed by the business for any business related expense or accounts payable; 2) cancelled checks, credit card receipts, receipts or any other documents evidencing payment made by the business to any individual or entity for any business related expenses or accounts payable; 3) receipts, journals, statements, invoices, or any other documents to show sums billed by the business to any individual or entity for which it was paid or has an account receivable; 4) any receipts, deposit tickets, or any other documents reflecting payments received by the business for its materials or services from any individual or entity; 5) etc.)

C. <u>Stipulations as to Husband's Income for Future Support Modification Purposes:</u> The parties agree and stipulate that for any and all future child support modification actions that the Husband's gross domestic income at the time of the child support modification shall be either Husband's gross domestic income at that time or the sum of \$75,000.00, whichever is greater. The parties further stipulate and agree that the sole basis for Husband's gross domestic income to be determined to be less than the sum of \$75,000.00 it would require the Court to determine that Husband is disabled or unable to be gainfully employed due to a serious injury or illness. (R. Vol.2, p. 164-166).)

On August 8, 2014, the court issued its Decree of Divorce. In part, since business records subpoenas from two separate casinos indicated Thomas gambled

more than \$135,000 in an 18-month period in 2012-2014 the parties were in conflict over Thomas' income (R.Vol.2, p. 104), this Decree included its own provisions relating to the parties' stipulations over Thomas' self-employment business records and his stipulated gross domestic income for support going forward. The relevant provisions in the Decree are:

- 27. The parties have reached other agreements in their PSA relative to child support, which the Court hereby adopts and orders the adherence to said stipulations. Accordingly, it is ordered and decreed that the following stipulations shall apply to any subsequent action to modify child support, to wit:
- a. The Respondent shall employ appropriate record keeping to aide in the determination of Respondent's gross domestic income from selfemployment as more specifically provided for by the terms of the PSA;
- b. The Respondent shall have no right to seek an increase in the child support paid by the Petitioner to Respondent until on or after July 1, 2016; and,
- c. For any and all future child support modification actions the Respondent's gross domestic income at the time of the child support modification action shall be the greater of the Respondent's actual gross domestic income at the time of the modification action or the sum of \$75,000.00. The Respondent and any Court modifying child support shall be prohibited from using a sum less than \$75,000.00 for Respondent's gross domestic income, unless a Court were to determine that Respondent is disabled or unable to be gainfully employed due to a serious injury or illness. (R.Vol.3, p. 6-7.)

The Child Support Worksheet approved by the court included a stipulated income for Father at \$10,000/month in self-employment income, with reasonable business expenses set at -\$2,344/month, or \$91,874 per year. (R.Vol.3, p. 10.)

Twenty months after the Decree approved the MSA, on March 18, 2016,

Thomas filed his Motion to Modify Child Support. The motion stated that a

material change occurred on three bases: ¶4a, that Jaime's income had increased;

4b the motion complained the parties did not have an expense sharing plan and Thomas as support obligee was being required to pay all expenses; and, 4c Thomas' receipt of alimony would soon terminate. (R.Vol.3, p. 93ff.)

In her Answer to the Motion to Modify Child Support, Jaime asserted the defenses afforded her in the decree, including Thomas' promise to wait until after July 1, 2016 to move for modification, the factual stipulations the parties entered into on Domestic Income, and Thomas' court ordered obligation to keep business records. Jaime requested fees, as agreed. (R.Vol.3, p. 128-129.) Jaime served this Answer on Thomas' counsel. The promises and stipulations are set out *supra*.

In addition, she requested reimbursement of medical, direct and extracurricular expenses. (R.Vol.3, p. 151.) Jaime asserted that Thomas was avoiding paying \$301.96 for his portion of uninsured medical expenses (R.Vol.3, p. 152, ¶7) and an additional \$836.46 in direct expenses and extracurricular activities. (R.Vol.3, p. 155, ¶16.) Thomas filed a response. (R.Vol.3, p. 158.) The response included a tax return included the fact that for the tax year 2015 Thomas had \$30,189 in income, including the \$4,200 he had received in maintenance from Jaime. (R.Vol.3, p. 177.) This represents a drop in Thomas' income from August 2014, when he agreed he made \$91,874 a year to 2015, the year he claims to have earned about \$25,000/year and expects to continue to suffer this lower income. (R.Vol.3, p. 98.)

In contrast, Jaime remained economically functional, her annual salary was set in 2016 at \$131,913.00. (R.Vol.3, p. 117.)

Jaime sought a number of business records subpoena's and records from tax preparers, employers, banks and casinos. (R.Vol.3, p. 190, 197, Vol.4. p. 1, 8, 15.)

A hearing was set for August 5, 2016, and Jaime moved for a continuance. She complained that Thomas had not complied with the agreed order to keep proper business records (*supra* p. 3), had not responded to discovery attempts resulting in the need to issue a number of business record subpoenas which were noticed on July 13, 2016, and Jaime plead that she preferred to conciliate the dispute rather than litigate. (R.Vol.4, p. 28.)

Thomas promptly objected, wanting immediate litigation instead.

Primarily, Thomas complained that Jaime's spousal maintenance obligation had terminated, thus he desired a higher child support award. (R.Vol.4, pp. 32-33.)

Jaime then filed her Brief in Opposition to Respondent's Motion to Modify Child Support. (R.Vol.4, pp. 38-45.) The brief stated that the underlying divorce matter involved conflict over Thomas' self-employment, and the disputes were resolved through the agreements regarding Thomas' income, first of which was for his record keeping, and second was the stipulation of facts relative to Thomas' income capacity for future modifications. (R.Vol.4, p. 39-40.) In support of her argument, Jaime asserted the validity of MSA's as set out in *In the Matter of the Estate of McLeish*, 49 Kan.App.2d 246, 255, (2013) and *Frazier v. Goudschaal*, 296 Kan. 730, 749, 295 P.3d 542 (2013) for its comments on the enforceability of contracts and public policy constraints. (R.Vol.4, p. 42.) Jaime argued that the

contract was valid, that both parties had testified in support of the later court finding that the promises were in the best interests of the children, and that Jaime relied upon those promises which Thomas breached. (R.Vol.4, p. 44.)

The matter was heard on August 5, 2016. (R.Vol.6.) The court began with acknowledging that it had reviewed the file. It denied the motion for a continuance. Further, based on the pleadings and other research, the court made a few preliminary rulings. The court found in 2016 that, in spite of language prohibiting modification of the child support until July 2, 2016, the prohibition was void as against public policy as well as the stipulation on Thomas' income. (R.Vol.6, p. 1-3.) Stating:

Therefore, the parties' agreement that there will be no modification until September - or, I'm sorry, until a specific date being July 1st of 2016 or that the \$75,000 be used forever as Dad's income is unenforceable. (R.Vol.6, p. 3.)

The court found it had the jurisdiction to proceed. (R.Vol.6, p. 3.)

The court then ruled on the issue of whether a penalty should be assessed against Jaime for not reporting an increase in her income voluntarily. The court denied the request to assess a penalty because the parties had relied in good faith on the agreement which prohibited modification until July 01, 2016. The court would start any modified order effective April 1, 2016—the date closest to the filing of the motion to modify. (R.Vol.6, p. 3.) The issued rulings on reimbursement issues and then proceeded to hear arguments on Thomas' income.

The court's inquiry began with daycare. Thomas was described as "Mr. Mom" who dedicated much of his time to cooking, cleaning, and managing the children's active schedules. Further compounding Thomas' problems was the fact the children go to school in Louisburg, and Thomas lives in LaCygne. This, Thomas argued, limits his work days on all but Mondays and Tuesdays because he has to be available on Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays to pick the children up from school. Thomas claims on those three days he could only work 9 a.m. to 2 p.m. Thomas denied that he had sought out the services of a daycare provider and claimed that the school did not have after school care. (R.Vol.6, p. 5-8.) The court indicated that the past practices were not relevant and wanted to focus on how the parties would proceed forward. Jaime responded she was not opposed to daycare, and that the parties used daycare providers when they were married. Jaime suggested her mother, maternal grandmother, would watch the children after school for no charge as she lives with Jaime and the children. The school's bus service would drop the children at Jaime's house, and she lives close enough to the school so that the bus would not always be needed. (R.Vol.6, pp. 9-12.)

Thomas objected to the cost of the bus service, but was already paying for the bus, and to maternal grandmother watching the kids because she had recently moved and may not stay at Jaime's home. The court responded that it expected parents to work 40-hours a week, and maternal grandmother removes the objection of any cost. Jaime rebutted Thomas' complaint that grandmother may not stay by saying she has moved, changed her drivers' license and had taken a temporary

part-time job that would not inhibit her daycare abilities. Further, the paternal grandparents lived near Thomas, and their help was available. (R.Vol.6, pp. 13-14.) The court simply wanted to assure that Thomas worked full time and concluded that the parties would utilize both maternal and paternal grandparents for daycare and transportation to make that happen. (R.Vol.6, pp. 15-18.)

Returning to the parties' stipulation that Thomas would make a minimum of \$75,000 a year, the court stated:

THE COURT: So now let's talk income real quick and I - I -- This \$75,000, I'm just saying I'm not stuck on it. I'm not saying you can't argue it. Does that make sense? I'm not -- I'm not saying I'm throwing it in there because it was part of the property settlement, but I'm not saying you can't argument - argue that. Do you understand what I'm sayin'? (R. Vol.6, p. 18.)

Thomas claimed his income was low because he was working around the children's schedule, about 35 hours a week. When encouraged by the court to argue an imputed income, Thomas suggested he could make \$30,000 a year.

Currently, Thomas, as "daddy daycare," was making a net of about \$2,000 a month. (R.Vol.6, pp. 19-23.)

Jaime insisted that even if the court did not enforce the stipulation, that Thomas' earlier estimation of \$75,000 was still appropriate; it coordinated with what he was claiming as a part-time worker as gross receipts on his DRA. Jaime argued that Thomas "whittles" down his income on his tax return to a net of \$25,000. Thomas has not kept the records he promised to keep and has not provided supporting documents to substantiate his income or expenses. The

information is so limited that Jaime could not tell if he was truthful or not. (R.Vol.6, p. 23.)

Thomas complained that he simply runs all charges through one debit card, and Jaime could get the record keeping data from the bank statements, and that for a small business, the agreed record keeping was too expensive. (R.Vol.6, p. 24.)

Jaime complained that Thomas remains insistent that he be imputed \$15/hr as an electrician—a rate of pay well below a reasonable rate for an experienced electrician. Again, she argued that Thomas himself had stipulated that \$75,000 was reasonable. The court responded:

THE COURT: No, I don't want to know why he agreed to it. I want to know your proof that - like why you think electricians traditionally make if you -- I know there's something you can pull up on employment, blah, blah, [sic] that electricians can make X amount of money per hour. (R.Vol.6, p. 25.)

Jaime responded that Thomas' service by a previous employer had been billed out at \$90 to \$110 an hour, plus materials. And, Jaime argued, that materials were paid by the client, so much of his business expenses must be personal in nature. The bank statement supports that conclusion. Thomas could work full time. Jaime recalled when the parties were married, Thomas worked for retail entities that wanted him to work weekends and evenings, so his work was more available during those off times where parenting responsibilities did not conflict. Jaime stood by the reasonableness of \$75,000 a year or roughly \$37.50 an hour. (R.Vol.6, p. 25.) The court then stated:

THE COURT: All right, this -- this what I'm goin' to do.

MR. REYNOLDS: I -- I -

THE COURT: This is what I'm goin' to do.

MR. REYNOLDS: If I may, Your Honor, one more thing? THE COURT: No, this is what I'm goin' to do. This is what I and Mr. Jensen knows this is what I do, splittin' the difference.

We're puttin' Dad in at \$52,500. (R.Vol.6, p. 26.)

Jaime then requested more specific findings on the record keeping promise and why the court was not enforcing that order. Here is that dialogue:

MR. REYNOLDS: Your Honor, when you started off and you said you were finding the - the restriction on modification against public policy of the - the 75,000 against public policy, I didn't you hear say anything about that source record keeping. That -- You weren't addressing that?

THE COURT: I'm not requiring that. I'm not because I - I have one person self employed. I need records. I need you to keep records, but I'm not gain' to require you. I don't know what all the other requirements are, but I'm not going to require you to hire a CPA. All right? I know self employed people and the costs for a CPA to keep all of your records is overwhelming. I need you making money. That's what I need, which of course would (indiscernible) her child support. Right? But I need you to be honest in your record keeping. All right? So step it up. Now you should have some time to be able to do that because you're not going to be transporting children as much. Okay?

THE RESPONDENT: Uh-huh. Right.

MR. REYNOLDS: So the point - point of clarification is he may not have to have an accountant do these things, but he's got to keep the documents for us to track all that?

THE COURT: I -- I'm asking him to try and do a better job at it. All right? I'm not ordering him a specific way to do it, but I need for him to be doing it. All right? All right, that's it for today. Thank you.

MR. JENSEN: Thank you.

(Whereupon, the hearing was adjourned.) (R.Vol.6, p. 37-38.)

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