## No. 18-119489-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

## IN THE MATTER OF THE MARRIAGE OF:

JAIME L. WHILDIN PETITIONER-APPELLANT

and

THOMAS M. WHILDIN RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE THOMAS M. WHILDIN

Appeal from the District Court of Miami County, Kansas Honorable Steven C. Montgomery District Court Case No. 13DM280

> Steven A. Jensen, #13713 13 S. Pearl St. Paola, KS 66071 Telephone: 913.294.2200 Facsimile: 913.294.4554 sjensen@micoks.net

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

Oral Argument Requested

#

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

The only possible reason to impute a wage above his reported income is "e" above.

However, Mother did not provide proof to the AHO or district judge that this was the case.

Instead, she tried to avoid that burden by contract, which has been addressed above as being void

and unenforceable. During the marriage Father was "Mr. Mom" and took care of Mother and the children. While it is true that Father does have training and experience as an electrician he was not working in that field full time during the marriage due to his family obligations. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 5-7). Father never earned \$75,000.00 during the marriage. His stipulation to that income to bring conclusion to months of litigation and family upheaval does not forever bar review by the court.

At the hearing Mother was unable to prove that Father was "deliberately underemployed for the purpose of avoiding child support" (emphasis added). As set out above, the changing of schools for the convenience of Mother, and the parties' agreement not to have daycare for the children, significantly affected the ability of Father to work full time. The parties' continued litigation and counseling further inhibits Father's ability to work full time. Being self-employed if he does not work, he does not get paid; whereas Mother is employed in a government position with paid time off.

In addition, Father never had a history of earning that amount of income. The contractual provision imputing a \$75,000.00 wage to him, whether he was earning the same or even capable of earning that amount, was clearly inserted to have a chilling effect on Father and prevent him from seeking the correct amount of child support. It also does not consider the drop in the economy after entering the agreement and how it might affect Father's earning capacity and ability to care for the children. The AHO and district judge correctly found that this was against public policy.

Mother does not want the court to review the parties' stipulated income for Father because she is well aware that she could not possibly prove that income; she is fighting hard to keep her support obligation as low as possible. Her argument that stipulations of facts being

binding upon the court is without merit. First she cites a *criminal* case, *State v. Weber*, 297 Kan. 805 (2013) in favor of the argument, but then cites a child related case, *In re Adoption of A.A.T.*, 42 Kan. App.2d 1 (2006), that does not support that argument. The adoption case obviously follows the standard of "best interest of the child" and is more persuasive.

By its very definition Mother is prohibited from making the argument that the AHO's decision was an abuse of this discretion; it is not one that *all* reasonable persons would disagree with. The AHO could have picked \$75,000.00, \$25,000.00, or any other rationally supported income and reasonable persons would have agreed with her. In the end, the AHO selected \$52,500.00 as Father's income. It cannot be said that not one person would have picked \$52,500.00. Her ruling was not arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable and, thus, it is not an abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Bradley*, 282 Kan. 1, 7 (2006).

3. THE ADMINSTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER AND DISTRICT JUDGE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE RECORD KEEPING REQUIREMENT IN THE PARTIES' MARITAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WAS TOO ONEROUS AND EXPENSIVE AND CREATED A CHILLING EFFECT THAT WAS NOT IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE MINOR CHILDREN, AND THUS WAS UNENFORCEABLE AGAINST PUBLIC POLICY.

The AHO found that the record keeping requirements were over burdensome and not economically feasible in this case. She correctly characterized the business as "tiny". (Vol. 6, pp. 24, 37). Father argued that he could not afford to pay a CPA to submit monthly, quarterly, and annual reports as required in their settlement agreement. (Vol. 6, p. 24). The AHO agreed and, reading between the lines, she found that the expense and burden placed upon him was not beneficial to the children and would take money away from caring for the children if a CPA was employed.

A contract is against public policy if it is injurious to the interests of the public, contravenes some established interest of society, violates some public statute, or tends to interfere with the public welfare. 17 C.J.S. Contracts § 211, 272, 12 Am.Jur., Contracts, §167, cited in *Hunter v. American Rentals, Inc.* 189 Kan. 615, 618 (1962). It is well established that parents have a duty to support their children, and the Court has a duty to review support and make sure that it is in the best interest of the children, not the parties. (Numerous citations omitted).

To allow Mother to escape her obligation under the support statute would be defeating the purpose of the legislature. *See, Hunter* at 618. No action may be maintained by Mother, either in equity or in law, to enforce a contract or agreement made in contravention of the law. *Murray v. Brown*, 177 Kan. 139 (1954). Such an agreement is void and unenforceable. *Hunter* at 619.

Mother previously cited several "property" cases in support of her positions that the Court cannot modify the parties' agreement. It is well established that matters of property are settled with the final decree of divorce. See e.g., *Rasure v. Wright*, 1 Kan.App.2d 699, 701-702 (1978). However, the Court maintains jurisdiction to review support throughout the child's minority without regard to any contract provisions to the contrary. *Id.* at 701; See also, K.S.A. §23-3005.

Petitioner cites no case law in the domestic arena that prohibits the AHO and district judge from taking the action they took in this case. In fact, "after a family unit fails to function, the child's interests become a matter for the State's intrusion in order to avoid jeopardizing the child if a parent's claim ... is based solely or predominantly on selfish motives". *In re Frazier v. Goudschaal*, 296 Kan. 730, 747 (2013)(citing *In the Matter of Ross*, 245 Kan. 591, 602 (1989)). Based upon selfish motives, Mother is trying to enforce an artificial income for Father to avoid paying child support. The *Goudschaal* court went on to say that "public policy in Kansas

requires our courts to act in the best interest of the children when determining the legal obligations to be imposed..." (emphasis added). Goudschaal at 747.

4. THE ADMINSTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER AND DISTRICT JUDGE ERRED WHEN THEY ARBITRARILY IMPUTED \$52,500.00 AS FATHER'S INCOME FOR CHILD SUPPORT PURPOSES.

Father is well aware of the notion that he might sound hypocritical if he argues that the AHO's determination of his income was incorrect. However, because the matter is on appeal and being reviewed, he would point out that Father argued that he could only earn \$25,000.00 to \$30,000.00 because the parties' parenting plan prohibits him from working 40 hours per week due to the parties' agreement that the children would not be in daycare. (R. Vol. 6, p. 7). He simply cannot work 40 hours per week and earn \$75.000.00. Father presented tax returns and a domestic relations affidavit (DRA) to support his argument. Even so, the AHO made findings about daycare in the future, and thus imputed that Father could work 40 hours per week, and imputed Father's income at \$52,500.00 per year. (R. Vol. 6, p. 13 and 26).

The guidelines only reference to a 40-hour work week is in reference to imputing the federal minimum wage, or \$15,084.00 per year. The guidelines do not suggest that all persons are capable of working 40 hours at a wage above minimum wage. They also require Mother, in this case, to prove that Father was purposefully underemployed *for the purpose of* avoiding his support obligation. Mother never made that argument, rather she argued that the court should be bound by their prior stipulation to \$75,000.00.

Because Mother failed in her burden to show that Father was purposefully underemployed to avoid child support then the AHO and court should have accepted the only evidence presented, his 2014 income tax return showing an adjusted gross income of \$24,243.00 and his 2015 income tax return showing an adjusted gross income of \$28,353,00. With no

rhyme, reason, or explanation the AHO simply "split the baby" and selected \$52,500.00 as

Father's income, half way between \$75,000.00 Mother suggested, and \$30,000.00 Father

suggested. If there was any error committed by the AHO and district court it was in finding an

arbitrary income for Father rather than what the evidence presented.

5. THE ADMINSTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER AND DISTRICT JUDGE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES WAS NOT WARRANTED UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

Mother never argued for reimbursement of attorney fees at the hearing in front of the AHO and it cannot be raised for the first time here. *Dalmasso v. Dalmasso*, 269 Kan. 752, 765 (2000)(a party is prohibited from raising arguments of attorney fees and costs when they failed to address those arguments with the trial court). Issues not raised before the trial court will not be heard for the first time on appeal. *Ripley v. Tolbert*, 260 Kan. 491 (1996).

In addition, attorney fees in this case are not statutorily mandated but rather must be based upon an equitable argument. To make such an argument Mother must come with "clean hands". As set out in *Green v. Higgins*, 217 Kan. 217 (1975),

"the clean hands doctrine is based upon the maxim of equity that he who comes into equity must come with clean hands. The clean hands doctrine in substance provides that no person can obtain affirmative relief in equity with respect to a transaction in which he has, himself, been guilty of inequitable conduct. It is difficult to formulate a general statement as to what will amount to unclean hands other than to state it is conduct which the court regards as inequitable... The clean hands doctrine has been recognized in many Kansas cases. (*Brooks v. Weik*, 114 Kan. 402, 219 Pac. 528; *Scott v. Southwest Grease & Oil Co.*, 167 Kan. 171, 205 P.2d 914; *Browning v. Lefevre*, 191 Kan. 397, 381 P.2d 524; Seal v. Seal, 212 Kan. 55, 510 P.2d 167; and *Anderson v. Anderson*, 221 Kan. 387, 520 P.2d 1239.)"

Therefore, Mother cannot argue the enforcement of a void and unenforceable contract and then ask for attorney fees when not successful.

Assuming arguendo that Mother had properly raised the issue of attorney fees below, she ignores the most important provision in their agreement regarding attorney fees wherein it states "the prevailing party in such action shall have the right to recover his or her reasonable attorney's fees". She also ignores the last sentence of the attorney fee provision, which she drafted and should be held against her (numerous cites omitted), wherein it states "No fees or costs authorized by this paragraph shall be recovered except as determined and awarded by the Court in an action brought for enforcement, breach or clarification of the Agreement." (R.Vol.2, p. 168).

Therefore, she must meet three requirements: (1) be the prevailing party; (2) convince the court that her request is reasonable; and (3) convince the court to actually award attorney fees.

Mother cannot possibly meet these requirements because she failed the first one; she lost below.

Because she did not prevail at the hearing before the AHO there was no reason for the court to determine if an award of attorney fees was appropriate for Mother; if anything it would have been appropriate for Father under the circumstances.

Both the AHO and district judge correctly denied Mother's request for attorney fees.

Mother did not prevail and never argued for reimbursement of attorney fees at the hearing in front of the AHO and cannot be raised for the first time here.

6. MOTHER CANNOT ARGUE AGAINST THE USE OF THE EXTENDED INCOME FORMULA FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

As set out above, appeals from the AHO are controlled by Supreme Court Rule 172.

According to Supreme Court Rule 172(h), the District Court sits as an appellate court for review of AHO matters. It specifically states "The district judge will review the transcript or a recording of the hearing and admitted exhibits and, applying an abuse of discretion standard, may affirm,

reverse, or modify an order". Only if a transcript is not available, will the district judge conduct a *de novo* proceeding. Because there was a transcript the District Judge reviewed the record and determined the issues on that basis.

In other words no new evidence is considered on appeal. It is improper for Mother to challenge the use of the extended income formula now by claiming that the court did not comment on it in the journal entry, nor was there evidence taken on the issue. She created the situation by not raising the issue or objecting contemporaneously at the hearing to the use of the extended formula used by Father in his Child Support Worksheets.

This is the first time this has been raised by Mother and is not properly in front of the Court. Issues not raised before the trial court will not be heard for the first time on appeal. *Ripley v. Tolbert*, 260 Kan. 491 (1996). In ¶74 of her Memorandum in Support of Her Motion for Review by District Judge, Mother agrees that it was not raised. (R. Vol. 4, p. 109). Had she raised it we could have addressed it down below and have direction from the AHO. Had it been raised Father could have argued that during the marriage Mother was (and continues to be) the "bread winner" and he was (and continues to be) "Mr. Mom"; he did all of the housework, cleaning, laundry, meals, transported the children to their activities, transported the children to/from school, and provided all other facets of care for the children.

After the divorce was granted this pattern has continued with Mother's acquiescence.

The children are involved in rodeo, guitar, horseback riding, and other costly activities that the parties historically agreed that the children should participate in, and that Mother now refuses to contribute to the costs. Further if Mother ever paid for anything (such as a school field trip fee of \$5.00, a few dollars for cupcakes for the class on a child's birthday, or a \$10.00 birthday gift for a child's party the kids were attending) she demanded reimbursement from Father. These

arguments were set out in Father's response in support of his motion to modify and were available to the AHO. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 161-162). Although not specifically argued, the Court stated on the record that she had reviewed the documents and pleadings prior to the hearing. (R. Vol. 6, p. 2). Clearly this is a case for the extended formula given the kids' involvement in activities and Mother's refusal to assist financially.

In addition, as pointed out previously, Father has to transport the children to/from school daily because they live in LaCygne and attend school in Louisburg at Mother's insistence.

Father also does the great majority of transportation for parental exchange so that Mother can maximize her time with the children. All this transportation and travel costs Father and has to be paid for somehow. Given the court's extensive history and numerous filings in this case, which has just recently caused the court to seek the assistance of a case manager, the court was well aware of the parties' situation and whether the extended formula should apply.

#### CONCLUSION

Mother's main concern in this case has always been the amount of support she is paying. Unfortunately the parties' resources could better be spent on repairing the Mother/child relationship than litigating support. The support amount was wrong from the beginning when the divorce was granted in 2014 as the parties never presented the Court with an order for approval of the correct amount of support under the guidelines; instead they presented an order for \$900.00 rather than \$1,332.00.

Mother's continued litigation and attempts to avoid her obligation is harmful to the children and not in their best interest. The AHO correctly found that her attempts to prohibit review for a set period of time, regardless of the circumstances, and her insistence on using an arbitrary income for Father, without consideration whether he was earning the same, could earn

the same, or was purposefully underemployed, and her onerous bookkeeping provisions, were void against public policy and not enforceable.

Finally, Mother's request for attorney fees is without merit because she was not the prevailing party as required by their settlement agreement. Her requests for fees and the review of the extended income formula should not be addressed for the first time on appeal.

Based upon the above and foregoing arguments, the AHO and District Judge should be affirmed in this case.